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P-R-0O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-8
(10:03 a.m.)
JUDGE NELSON: Please be seated. Sorry to
be late. All right, we have here Mr. Roach.

MR. ROACH: Yes, Your Honor. I'm

accompanied by Michael Rosenthal of Covington and

Burling and Jerry Norton representing SP.

MR. LUBEL: Good morning, Your Honor.
Alan Lubel of Troutman Sanders on behalf of the Kansas
City Southern Railway.

And Your Honor, I left a letter on desk
there with the three issues that we would propose to
take up this morning.

JUDGE NELSON: I have it here.

MR. DiMICHAEL: Your Honor, my name is
Nicholas DiMichael. 1I'm here with the law firm of
Donelan, Cleary, Wood and Maser representing the Dow
Company. And with me is Mr. Jeffrey Moreno.

JUDGE NELSON: Mr. Bercovici?

MR. BERCOVICI: Good morning, Your Honor,
Martin Bercovici. I'm here for Union Carbide
Corporation and for the Society of Plastics Industry.

MR. STEEL: And Adrian Steel on behalf of
the Burlington Northern Railroad and the Atchison,

Topeka and Santa Fe Railway.
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JUDGE NELSON: I didn’'t hear you, sir.

MR. STEEL: Adrian Steel on behalf of
Burlington Northern Santa Fe.

JUDGE NELSON: What order do you want to
proceed in, as Mr. Lubel has probably unfinished
business? So, I guess we should take him first.

MR. LUBEL: Right, Your Honor. I'd be
happy to -- these three issues I proposed. To take
the first one, first, on the issue of build-ins or
build-outs --

JUDGE NELSON: All right.

MR. LUBEL: -- I'm ready to proceed. Your
Honor, if I might, I’'ve got about five minutes here to
present to you. And if I can get it in, I think it
will probably handle my rebuttal too.

JUDGE NELSON: I wanted to say thank you

for contacting me when the deposition ended the other

day. I appreciated that courtesy. I was home on-call

and on duty, and I heard from your and later Ms.
Jones.

MR. LUBEL: We just wanted to let you know
that we --

JUDGE NELSON: And even nicer than the
call was the news that you never had to bother me.

(Laughter.)
NEAL R. GROSS

COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20008




1201

JUDGE NELSON: You were able to take care
of the deposition.

MR. LUBEL: It went fairly smoothly, Your

JUDGE NELSON: The way it ought to go.
All right, sir.

MR. LUBEL: There were some questions
about settlem=nt privilege maybe, but I’'m not here to
address that today.

JUDGE NELSON: All right.

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, I dc have though
today another example of how discovery in the case has
now led to additional -- us uncovering additional
relevant evidence.

And particularly, this deals with the
question of build-ins or build-outs. And it was the
subject of our interrogatories 27 and 28.

JUDGE NELSON: Well, let me find them.

MR. LUBEL: I have extra copies here, Your
Honor. I actually have their response, and I also

have what I’ll call a diagram to try to represent a

building situation.

JUDGE NELSON: I have 27 and 28. I have
the originals.

MR. LUBEL: Here is -- here is the diagram
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I was referring to, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: Have you shown this to the
railroad?

MR. LUBEL: I did, I did.

JUDGE NELSON: Any problems with my
looking at this diagram?

MR. ROACH: No sir.

JUDGE NELSON: All right.

MR. LUBEL: And the -- the first point I’'d
like to address, Your Honor, is why is it relevant?
You know, we’re asking for situations where there was
a possibility or some document that might have
discussed the possibility of a build-in or a build-
out.

And that type of situation, as I've
represented there, is where a railroad is caly served
by one -- I mean, a shipper is only served by UP or
SP.

JUDGE NELSON: UP on your diagram.

MR. LUBEL: Right. But it has the

opportunity where the other railroad, the competing

railroad, could build-in. And that exerts a
competitive pressure. And I’ll fit that in in my
analysis.

In terms of why this would be relevant:
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we all know that -- and I believe that they have

admitted that there are certain competitive problems

with the merger because these two systems overlap and

are parallel.

But they say they’'ve solved those
competitive problems by granting access to Burlington
Northern at all the two-to-one points according to
their definition.

It’'s our position in the case that they
have not solved all those problems because their
definition of competitive harm, their definition of
two-to-one, with really only one exception, is as
follows: a shipper that is served by both UP and SP
and no other railroad.

JUDGE NELSON: So that’s not your diagram?

MR. LUBEL: That’s right. 1It’s not the
diagram. Now they have made an exception, and for, I
oelieve, it’s Mount Belveau, in saying that that --
the Burlington Northern will get access thereto.

And we think that -- as all the witnesses
in the case have -- well, not all, but there has been
substantial testimony that this type of situation does
lead to competitive pressure.

It helps keep the rates down at UP because

there’s the option of having a build-in and going to
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the other line, or vice versa.

And I believe that the Applicants have
recognized the relevance of it also because they did
carve an exception. In the agreement with Burlington
Northern, they dealt with, I believe, one or two or
those situations.

And it is the others that we’re interested
in. Because again, their definition of a build-in or
build-out situation, we think was too narrow.

JUDGE NELSON: Are you interested in all
potential build-ins and build-outs?

MR. LUBEL: No, Your Honor. 1I've got --

JUDGE NELSON: Just certain ones?

MR. LUBEL: If you’ll -- if you’ll let me,
I'm only interested in data that they have already
gathered, and that’s what I'm getting to. We’re not
asking them to do any search at all.

And so -- so it’s only interested in the
data that Mr. Peterson, in his deposition, said they
gathered. We'’re not asking them to go out and do a
blanket search.

But their definition of a build-in that

should be covered by the settlement agreement is one

where there is already like an agreement or some -- an

agreement to do the build-in or some formal step has
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been taken.

And we say that there are other possible
situations that «could be exerting competitive
pressure.

Now, we could just acce .t their definition
of what’s relevant, Your Honor, but I think we’'d be
overlooking some very important evidence. And you
know, we are here to do discovery and to test their --
their application.

When we were here before on December 20th,
our interrogatory did ask for conversations about
build-outs, but then it said "or any documents that
related to it."

And they said that it would be burdensome
to find. They said it was not relevant. But I think
we've established the relevanc~, and even I can quote
the testimony from their cwn witnesses that show it s
relevant.

But they said it was burdensome to go and
look at. I think to quote Mr. Roach, he said that "It
would be like searching for a needle in a haystack,"
it would be some big, broad search.

But we’ve now found out in discovery, Your

Honor, that there are some existing documents that

were gathered that will alleviate the need for that
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search.

Specifically in the deposition of Mr.
Peterson, which I have copies of here -- was taken on
really a couple of days. But it was in the last --
the first day was February sixth, I believe. Well, no
-- yes, it was February sixth -- February fifth and
sixth. Those are the two portions that I'm referring
to.

On -- he said that in looking at two-to-
one situations, they gathered data on build-out

situations. And he was asked, "Was it put in

writing?" “"Yes, it was put in writing." VYes, they

would probably have it.

And they did determine -- he also --

JUDGE NELSON: Who is "they?"

MR. LUBEL: "They," being Union Pacific.
He's testifying -- Mr. Peterson was one of the main
witnesses for Union Pacific. He submitted over a 300-
page statement in this case. He covers a broad range
of --

JUDGE NELSON: I recall Mr. Peterson.

MR. LUBEL: Okay. Anyway, he said that
they had gathered data on potential build-out
situations. He also said that a few years ago, there

was actually a study, an earlier study of potential
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build-out situations.
He said he thinks he fcobably still has

that. And they -- now, they decided -- he said,

"Well, we decided that those weren’t similar enough or

they weren’t realistic possibilities, and therefore,
you know, we didn’'t carve those out as exceptions."

But we'’re asking to see those, Your Honor,
because we feel that we should -- as part of
discovery, we should be zble to judge for ourselves
whether their determination that they’re not feasible
is correct.

More importantly, we suggest its evidence,
to present it and let the Surface Transportation Board
decide if it’s relevant.

JUDGE NELSON: Is this only from UP, or
are you also seeking from SP?

MR. LUBEL: No, it’s only for UP. And all
we’re asking for, Your Honor --

JUDGE NELSON: Because your diagram is the
other way around.

MR. LUBEL: I know. I use that just as an
example, Your Honor, because I think that they could -
- we have -- we have the question going both ways.
But the -- in other words, we have 27 that goes to UP

and 28 is SP, or I might have it backwards.
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But all we’re asking for, Your Honor, is
the data that Mr. Peterson said that he gathered. He
said that he gathered data and that he did an earlier
study.

JUDGE NELSON: This is about potential UP
build-ins --

MR. LUBEL: Well -- well, Your Honor --

JUDGE NELSON: -- to SP?

MR. LUBEL: -- we would say it would be
either. Because in gathering their data, they might
have considered it both ways.

But all we’'re asking for is the data that
he gathered oca potential build-in situations that
involved either UP or SP.

We feel it's relevant, and there‘s no
burden because, you know, he said he had done the
gathering. All he’s got to do is go and look at it.

I'm actually surprised, Your Honor, that
they’ve not made it available to us. I’'m surprised
that after he mentioned in his deposition that he had
gathered his data and we’'ve then asked him for it,
that they didn’t voluntarily make it available.

JUDGE NELSON: What did they tell you as

to why you can’t have it?

MR. LUBEL: Well, I don’t know that we’ve
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gotten much response other than, you know, they feel
they’'ve addressed the situation in what they gave us
or -- or, you know -- I don’'t know that we'’ve gotten
a formal response to my letter. I‘m sure Mr. Roach
will hear.

But with all due respect to their case,
Your Honor --

JUDGE NELSON: You don’'t know as of this

moment why they won’t give you this stuff?

MR. LUBEL: I think they’re standing by

their -- their earlier position as stated in their
answer to interrogatories 27 and 28, Your Honor.

I think they’re saying that the other --
there are only a couple of situations that ware
feasible, and they’'ve given us the information on
those; that the others were merely, you know --
weren't seriously considered.

And therefore, they don’t have to make
them available.

And we'’'re saying that the -- you know, I
think Mr. Roach just didn’t know that his internal
people, that his client, had done this study.

And therefore, we’'re just asking to make
the study that he said he did available. I -- you

know, with all due respect to their case Your Honor,
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I think there are some serious problems with their
case.

And I think that, you know, within the
bounds, they are trying to keep that from us, from you
and the STB.

JUDGE NELSON: Do we know how many of
these there are?

MR. LUBEL: No. He just said he gathered
data. And I don’'t know how many other situations were
in his -- in his -- the data that he gathered. I
don‘t know if it was five other or 50 other.

But our point would be is that it’s there.
We ought to have it so that we can determine whether
these are feasible situations for build-ins, and
especially present it to the Surface Transportation
Board.

JUDGE NELSON: Now would your request
encompass the others -- other discoverers? I forget
whether it’s Mr. Bercovici or one of the others
pushing for some build-ins.

MR. LUBEL: Well, I believe --

MR. BERCOVICI: Yes, Your Honor. May I
speak to that?

MR. LUBEL: Well, just from our

perspective, I just want to make clear to you the
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narrow focus. We’re only asking for -- Mr. Peterson
said he gathered that --

JUDGE NELSON: You want the ones that
Peterson testified about?

MR. LUBEL: The ones he testified about,

the data -- the data he gathered and the earlier study

he did.
I'm not sure that Mr. Bercovici’s
situation would be in that or now.

JUDGE NELSON: Dow has something about

MR. BERCOVICI: Yes, we do.
JUDGE NELSON: And Mr. Bercovici, will --

MR. BERCOVICI: May I speak to that, Your

JUDGE NELSON: For the sake of argument,
suppose I were "o grant Mr. Lubel’s, would that take
care of you?

MR. BERCOVICI: That would take care of
me. Can I -- can I speak to the facts?

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, that’s all I have.
I mean, it seems to me that it’s obvious, that it’s
relevant, that there’s no burden to get something that
he said he gathered and said is in writing. And we

think --
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JUDGE NELSON: Would it make sense to have
argument now on the three?

MR. BERCOVICI: Yes sir. On these three,
I think so.

MR. ROACH: Well, I don’‘t -- I think it
would be easier for me to say there’s no dispute here
and he’s going to get what he’s asking for. And he
never called me up on the phone to find out the
answer.

We'’ 7e been inundated with depcsiticns and
discovery requests. I got his letter on the eighth of
February, three days after the testimony a issue.

We’'ve been working hard to prrovide a full
response, and we're going to give him a full response.

JUDGE NELSON: Fine, so you’ll give him
these papers --

MR. ROACH: That'’s right, yes.

JUDGE NELSON: -- pertaining to that which
Peterson testified?

MR. LUBEL: And Your Honor, I apologize to
you and to Mr. Roach if I didn’t -- we’ve all been
busy.

MR. ROACH: Yes sir.

MR. LUBEL: We did send a letter a couple

of days ago announcing it to this hearing and saying
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we’'re still interested in trying to work it out. But
everybody has been very busy.

And I take his offer and we hope --

JUDGE NELSON: I know that Friday two key
depositions were going on because I was on call all
day to have to rule on them. So I know you were tied
up.

MR. LUBEL: And there was preparation --

JUDGE NELSON: There’s no mystery about

MR. LUBEL: We’ll reserve our right,
obviously, to come back if we’re not satisfied with
their response. But we appreciate their --

JUDGE NELSON: Well, Mr. Roach, if you
turn over everything that Peterson testified to, what
does that leave of these other requests?

MR. ROACH: Well, I'm not -- I'm not sure.
We need to give you the history of these others, which
are rather on a different track. We litigated them a
couple of weeks ago and --

JUDGE NELSON: Maybe I should hear the
others first then and then hear you.

MR. ROACH: But, you know, if I could just

say a couple words of correction with regard to what

Mr. Lubel stated. He indicated to you, Your Honor,

NEAL R. GROSS
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20006




IR TR O

1214

that the Applicants have defined what counts, from a
competitive standpoint very narrowly and situations
where there was actually an agreement to do a build-in
or a build-in was underway. That isn‘t the case.

JUDGE NELSON: No, I didn’t understand
that. I understood him to say that you did include
such situations.

MR. ROACH: Well, we --

JUDGE NELSON: You did.

MR. ROACH: Yes, but --

JUDGE NELSON: But excluded certain others
where, in your judgement, the threat of entry was too
remote.

MR. ROACH: Right, and --

JUDGE NELSON: And it’s those that he'’s
fighting about.

MR. ROACH: That’s right. And the --

JUDGE NELSON: Because he says why should
he trust your judgement? Let him see.

MR. ROACH: Right, and the line --

JUDGE NELSON: I was not at all confused

about tha;.

MR. ROACH: Okay. All I'm trying to
clarify is that the line that we drew was not the line

that he suggests; that is, between, on the one hand,
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a formal commitment to do it and everything else on
the other hand, but rather was a 1line that was
intended to be identical to what the Commission drew
as the right line in BN/Santa Fe, and that is the
issue of feacibility.

And Mr. Peterson testified about this.
The study that they want is a study that was done by
a summer associate well before the date range for
discovery in this case.

We’'re going to produce it. We are
searching to try to find any documents that followed
on it with regard to feasibility.

JUDGE NELSON: A summer associate lawyer?

MR. ROACH: A summer intern, I should have

JUDGE NELSON: I was going to say, what
would a lawyer have with these judgements?

MR. ROACH: No, it was a summer -- a
management intern for the summer.

JUDGE NELSON: That'’s feasible.

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, if I can just make

-- make this particular --
MR. ROACH: Can I finish?
MR. LUBEL: Excuse me.

MR. ROACH: Just, I want to clarify the
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facts here.

JUDGE NELSON: I knew Covington was a big
firm, but I didn’'t know --

(Laughter.)

MR. ROACH: I've got lawyers on the brain
here, too many involved. No, this was not a lawyer.
It was a summer management intern.

Mr. Peterson also testified that in

preparing the application here, and in connection with

the settlement negotiations, he did a comprehensive
study to try to identify all two-to-one situations,
including build-in situations.

And he went out and he interviewed a lot
of people a Union Pacific and gathered "data."

Now, it is not correct that he testified
that he had a written compilation of data. The
writing that you’re referring to, that Mr. Lubel
referred to, was the earlier study.

He asked, "Is that in writing?" and he
said "Yes." We are attempting to gather the "data."
We have not found writings thus far.

But we will, at the very least, give a
full narrative response with respect to what data Mr.
Peterson collected.

So that’s all I wanted to clarify, Your
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Honor. We’'re going to give him what he’'s asking for.
And that’s -- those are the facte on that one.

MR. LUBEL: And I would only say a to the
more recent gatherirg of data, if there'’s anything in
writing, we would like to see it, feel we have the
right to see it, rather than 3just a general
description, aithough we appreciate your description
of it too.

JUDGE NELSON: Maybe we should turn to the
other build-in/build-out issues then while we’re on
them. Mr. DiMichael, is it?

MR. DiMICHAEL: That'’s right, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: Yes sir?

MR. DiMICHAEL: Your Honor, I am
representing Dow here, and we sent -- we faxed a
letter to Your Honor on the 16th.

JUDGE NELSON: I have it.

MR. DiMICHAEL: There -- just as a

preliminary matter, there is a prior confidentiality

agreement between the SP and Dow and this matter
which, at least, could restrict the ability to talk
about this.

I have talked with counsel for SP prior to
this. And they have agreed that as long as the highly

confidential designation is adhered to within the
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confines of the hearing in the case, we will not be in

breach of the prior confidentiality agreement between

Dow and --
JUDCE NELSON: So then you want this
transcript classified?

MR. DiMICHAEL: That'’s -- that's exactly

MR. NORTON: That’s right. And that is a
correct statement, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: All right. Then I‘'m going
to ask the reporter if we can make those arrangements.

(Whereupon, the proceedings went into a

confidential closed session at 10:55 a.m.)
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(Whereupon, the session was reopened at
11:52 a.m.)

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, the next issue I

have is a question of attorney/client privilege. And

basically al. we’'re asking is that Your Honor review
the two documents in question in camera to determine
whether, in fact, there is a basis for them to be
considered privileged.

If I might approach with the documents in
question?

JUDGE NELSON: How 1long are these
documents?

MR. LUBEL: They’re very short. It’s ‘just
two -- there are only two pages --

JUDGE NELSON: All right.

MR. LUBEL: -- and certain redactions on
each of the two pages. It's really just two pages,
Your Honor. If I could approach?

It all relates to a February 1995 Board

meeting. I also tender a case of International

JUDGE NELSON: Well, you’'re showing me a

redacted version.
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MR. LUBEL: Yes, that’'s all we have, Your
Honor. I would refer you to -- if I might lay the
foundation for this, Your Honor, this is -- there are
two documents. It's a presentation to the Board of UP
in February of 1995, and then the secouud document is
materials handed out at the Board meeting.

And 1t’s actually the second one that I'm
going to refer to first. If you go to --

JUDGE NELSON: This is February cf ‘95?

MR. LUBEL: February of ’95.

JUDGE NELSON: Now, the merger was filed
in August?

MR. LUBEL: Well, see it wasn‘'t -- that'’'s
right. That'’s why we think this is very interesting,
Your Honor. And again, this is the time line.

The merger is not until August. They
admit that UP and SP had some discussions in late
summer or September of -- actually, I think they said
mid-’94, but we certainly know by September of 94.
Okay, that’s UP/SP.

Then you’ve got Burlington Northern/Santa
Fe filing their merger application, and that’'s in
October of ‘94.

If you come forward, you’ve got UP and SP

now in February of ‘95, there'’s testimony that they
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talked -- or certainly by March, they had talked about
a possible merger between them.

And then in March or April of ’'95, they
withdraw their opposition from Burlington the
Northern/Santa Fe merger and proceed with discussions
later on.

JUDGE NELSON: So this is at a time when,

you say, the UP and SP are talking to each other --

MR. LUBEL: Oh yes.

JUDGE NELSON: -- about i merger.

MR. LUBEL: Yes.

JUDGE NELSON: And shortly before they
withdraw their opposition to the BN/SF. How do they
talk to each other? Do they need an antitrust
exemption to do that, or how does that work
mechanically?

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, I'm not certain
and I don‘t want to define the scope of that. I mean,
there is -- I believe there is some privilege involved
in --

JUDGE NELSON: My recollection is there is
an exemption at the end of the game -- to make that
meaningful, you would have to be able to talk,
otherwise you could never merge and never take

advantage of the exemption at the end of the game.
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MR. LUBEL: I don’'t believe that it is --
JUDGE NELSON: Maybe that’s the theory.
MR. LUBEL: I don’‘t believe it would
exclude all collusive conduct, particularly if there

was some agreement between these two big merged

companies: UP/SP and BN/SF. If ycu don't oppose my

merger, I won’'t oppose yours. We’ll help each other
out.

But getting specifically, this is an
interesting time period because it is February ’95.
It's -- you know, they say the merger is not really
agreed to until July, so these early discussions, we
say, were very significant.

If Your Honor would go to page 17 of these
combined documents, it’s page number -- it’s page
number HC-33000017.

Now this is part of the materials handed
out at the Board meeting.

JUDGE NELSON: I have it.

MR. LUBEL: 1It’s on page two.

JUDGE NELSON: And whose Board is this?

MR. LUBEL: This is the Union Pacific

JUDGE NELSON: The Union Pacific Board’'s

meeting?
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MR. LUBEL: Yes. And they, of course, end
up acquiring or petitioning the Commission to approve
their acquiring Southern Pacific.

JUDGE NELSON: All right, and they see
this sheet --

MR. LUBEL: Okay, and this is presented to
their Board and it’s important, Your Honor, because
what I‘m trying to show is I'm trying to make a
showing -- I might be redundant here.

I'm trying to make a showing of why Your
Honor should look at this in camera to see, because I
think there is some question as to whether this can be
considered attorney/client privilege.

JUDGE NELSON: There’s opposition to my
even looking at.

MR. LUBEL: Yes, yes. And so I'm trying
to make the showing. If you look at this page, and I
invite Your Honor to look --

JUDGE NELSON: I see the lines you've
marked in yellow.

MR. LUBEL: Right, I’‘ve marked that on
counsel’s copy also. The first point you need to

know, Your Honor, is that this presentation, the

presentation at the Board meeting, was not by an

attorney.
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They said it was by Mr. White Matthews,
who is a financial executor. Now they'’ve said, if I
have -- what their position is that what he was
relating here or what was being related here by Mr.
Matthews, the financial officer, is legal advice or
some communication he got from Mr. Bernuth, the
general counsel.

But it’s not Mr. Bernuth talking here.
It‘s not him who made this presentation.

JUDGE NELSON: This is some witness
repeating what the lawyer has told him?

MR. LUBEL: Well, this is actually a
presentation, I think, that was made to the Board.

JUDGE NELSON: Suppose it is that. I’'m
Mr. White and --

MR. LUBEL: Yes, the financial officer.

JUDGE NELSON: -- and I tell the Board
what Mr. -- what’s his name --

MR. LUBEL: The general counsel, Mr.
Bernuth.

JUDGE NELSON: -- Bernuth has told me. 1Is

that thereby no longer attorney/client because I’'m

repeating it? 1Is that your point?
MR. LUBEL: No, no, that’s not it totally,

Your Honor, but it would depend. Our first point is,
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and it'’s important, this is not by the lawyer. This
is by the financial executive.

Our second point is if you look at the --

JUDGE NELSON: The financial executive is
-- what’s his rank in the company?

MR. LUBEL: He's fairly high up, I

believe, in the company, that it’s -- :+’s not even

the railroad company. I think it’s in the owning

company. I stand to be corrected by that.

But he 1is a Senior Executive Vice
President of Finance, I believe.

JUDGE NELSON: So can we draw the
inference that -- in Bernuth’s company?

MR. LUBEL: No, no. Well, yes. I'm not
making a distinction between the companies. I think
that they’re acting in unison, and that’s not the
basis for our objection.

JUDGE NELSON: That when Bernuth talks to
a senior financial officer who, in turn, talks to the
Board, that the client -- the client is the Union
Pacific, and that coumunications from general counsel
to the senior financial officer to the Board are
communications from the lawyer to the client.

MR. LUBEL: Could be, Your Honor. That'’s
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JUDGE NELSON: So far --

MR. LUBEL: -- that’'s -- so far. That's
not the basis of our objection.

JUDGE NELSON: But the forum shculd not
control here.

MR. LUBEL: That'’'s correct. What we -- we
have two other points. In addition to the fact that
it’s not the lawyer talking, it’s the context. If you
look at the context of the remarks that are taken out,
it appears to us that it is arguable that the context
is within the context of discussing financial matters.

JUDGE NELSON: I don’t know that what I
said is correct. I'm just thinking this through. I
have no researched this problem.

MR. LUBEL: I'm -- we’re working --

JUDGE NELSON: But inside the corporation

MR. LUBEL: Right.

JUDGE NELSON: -- if the -- the client may
be a number of individuals.

MR. LUBEL: Right.

JUDGE NELSON: The corporation acts for

people, so you’ve got a couple of key people or the

Board and kc¢y officers. If they communicate lawyer

advice to each other, thinking out loud, the reasons
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for the attorney/client privilege ought to remain even
though it isn’t the lawyer in there doing the talking
It’s Mr. White saying what the lawyer told him.

MR. LUBEL: Let me try to narrow things.

JUDGE NELSON: Maybe there’s another
argument against that. I don’t know.

MR. LUBEL: There might be, Your Honor,
and that would be the next phase. But for -- to try
to make your decision easier here, we’ll concede
theoretically that if Mr. Bernuth gave some legal
advice, confidential legal advice, to Mr. Matthews,
and all Mr. Matthews is doing is repeating that to the
corporation, then the privilege might apply.

But again, two more points: given the
context of this, we have some question as to whether
this could be considered legal advice. Because it
seems within a discussion -- it seems to be within a
discussion of financial issues and business and
orarational issues.

And the point there is, Your Honor -- I

don’t have all the authority here, but if Mr. Bernuth

is giving his business judgement on this as opposed to

legal advice -- if Bernuth -- you know, he may wear
more than one hat.

JUDGE NELSON: There are cases to make
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that distinction.

MR. LUBEL: And Your Honor, we actually
testimony that relates to that in this case. Now,
it’s to their Applicant partner. But in the
depositicn of Mr. Runde, and he’s the Morgan Stanley
executive -- Morgan Stanley was the advisor, financial
advisor, to Southern Pacific.

And they’re talking about a Mr. Harvey of
Southern Pacific who is general counsel, and I believe
he had some financial position.

And we asked -- we said to Mr. Runde,
"Well, Mr. Runde, you know, Mr. Harvey, isn’t he the
legal officer?" And they said, "Yes, but sometimes he
plays a financial role."

Now that’s SP. That'’s not UP. I want --
no one has said that Mr. Bernuth also plays a
financial role.

But I think that creates some question,
Your Honor --

JUDGE NELSON: Suppose Bernuth is, at all

times, the lawyer, never plays another role? Do you

then agree that everything he says is privileged?
MR. LUBEL: Well no, Your Honor. Well,
it’s hard to say. Our argument is --

JUDGE NELSON: What if he discusses spring
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training and the Orioles’ chances in a new Florida
deal?
MR. LUBEL: No, that is not privileged.
JUDGE NELSON: Is that privileged?
MR. LUBEL: I don’t think so, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: Unless he tells it to the

MR. LUBEL: Well, I don’t think that would
be privileged.

JUDGE NELSON: Suppose the client tells it
to the Board just to make conversation, to break the
ice in an otherwise difficult meeting?

MR. LUBEL: I don’t think that would be
covered, Your Honor. And if he makes an analogy
between baseball and business judgements, then that --
I don’t think that would be privileged either.

So our points are, just (1) it‘’s not a
lawyer talking, not a lawyer either making his
presentation or presenting these materials; (2) the
context appears to be discussion of operational

matters, business matters, financial matters; and (3)

there is some precedent for general counsel, in large

companies like this, to give business or financial
suggestions not just legal advice.

And all that we’'re asking is that Your
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Honor look at these two lines and make the initial
judgement whether it appears to be legal advice such
that it would be protected by the attorney/client
privilege.

JUDGE NELSON: I didn’t get the three
points. One is that it’s the client saying what the
lawyer told him.

MR. LUBEL: Well --

JUDGE NELSON: Not the lawyer directly --

MR. LUBEL: -- they say, that’s right.

JUDGE NELSON: Two is that you don’t know
what hat he’s wearing.

MR. LUBEL: Well, that’'s really three.

JUDGE NELSON: Three. What’'s two?

MR. LUBEL: Two is the context. If you
look at the context that these remarks appear, as
you're looking through here, they’re talking about
financial operating comparison, and then pros and
coins of the merger.

I'm just suggesting that this is in the
context of -- and especially if you go to the next
page -- it was in other pages. There’s a lot of
financial --

JUDGE NELSON: Well, suppose it’s like,

say, the pro of the merger is that we get an antitrust
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exemption, a major pro?
MR. LUBEL: I think that that would -- if
I would be in your shoes, I think I would --

JUDGE NELSON: And suppose our con is

we’ll have to spend a million dollars in legal fees

and screw around with these lawyers in Washington and
waste time in hearings?
MR. LUBEL: If from your judgement, and

we're relying on your judgement, that those seem to be

JUDGE NELSON: Deal with some ALJ that
isn’'t even an employee of the Transportation --

(Laughter.)

MR. LUBEL: If, when you look at it, it
seems to be matters of legal advice, then that’'s --

JUDGE NELSON: They would win if that’s

MR. LUBEL: Then I guess you would say
that you think --

JUDGE NELSON: I would look at that in
camera and protect it.

MR. LUBEL: That’'s right. And all we’re
asking you to do is look at it in camera and determine
whether it seems to be legal advice.

JUDGE NELSON: I certainly would protect
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that kind of thing. That's part of legal advice.

MR. LUBEL: And I don‘t think we could
have any argument about that.

JUDGE NELSON: But you are out to solely
to get me to look at this particular document?

MR. LUBEL: That’'s it.

JUDGE NELSON: What'’'s the case, say, as to
the threshold for that requirement?

MR. LUBEL: Well, they cite a case that
involved criminal investigation, a -- it was a
criminal investigation of Medicare fraud, and there
were 11 documents withheld. And the court set out a
standard that you must make a showing that there is
some reason to think that it might not be legal
advice.

Now we don’t have -- well, I hasten to
add, in that case, the case they rely on, they had
presented a privilege log.

We have yet to receive the privilege log
in this case, although Mr. Roach did provide a letter
describing these two documents.

JUDGE NELSON: My recollection is I've

done this twice on the Energy side, once in a merger

case. And every time, I sustained the privilege and

found it --
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MR. LUBEL: I understand.

JUDGE NELSON: -- in fact, even in closed
cases, I erred in favor of the privilege. And it may
be just as professional matter. So I don’'t know how
far it’s going to get you.

MR. LUBEL: Your Honor, that’'s all we can
ask for. I mean, if you look at these documents, it
looks very suspicious that at a key time, discussing
this merger that’s coming up, there are some things
taken out of this report.

To me, the fact that a --

JUDGE NELSON: How do you know who =aid
what at the meeting?

MR. LUBEL: Well, we don‘'t know who said
what, and we'’ve not explored that --

JUDGE NELSON: Well, you represented that

the lawyer wasn’'t there and that some other person --

MR. LUBEL: No, I --

JUDGE NELSON: How do yo know that?

MR. LUBEL: I didn’t say the lawyer wasn't
there. I think Mr. Roach told us in his letter that

this presentation was made by the financial executive

JUDGE NELSON: Oh, I see.

MR. LUBEL: -- and he was repeating what
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he had been told by the general counsel.
JUDGE NELSON: Do we know whether the
general counsel was at the meeting?

MR. LUBEL: I believe he was, but I don‘t

JUDGE NELSON: All right. So the issue iz
-- is narrowing whether I should look in camera at
these redactions that are listed under the pros and
cons?

MR. LUBEL: Right. That’s all we’'re
asking for, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: What do they indicate that?
That this is an agenda? I'm looking at sheet 17 here.

MR. LUBEL: I think if you go back -- and

we could go back, and if you go back and look at the

table of contents, this was called -- this page was
called "Objective and Overview."

And the beginning, as you see, talks about
their objective was "to expand the western franchise."
Now Your Honor, you might want --

JUDGE NELSON: All you get is a title.

MR. LUBEL: Well no, if we -- if --

JUDGE NELSON: Page 17 is a series of

MR. LUBEL: Yes. We would get that
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remark, which would then allow us --

JUDGE NELSON: And there would be a title
where it says "Redacted/Attorney-client privilege."
there would be a title.

MR. LUBEL: Exactly, Your Honor: we've

got Mr. Davidson’s deposition coming up the end of

next week or the following week.

You know, I presume he, being the
president of the company, was at this meeting.

JUDGE NELSON: So all you want is that
one-line title?

MR. LUBEL: Yes, the bullets. We would
start with the bullets. And if it’s determined that
we can have that portion of the document, then we can
use that to ask questions about --

JUDGE NELSON: Well, who knows what’s
under that bullet? But if they follow the format
otherwise on the unredacted items on page 17, it'’s
simply a one-line title.

MR. LUBEL: That'’s right.

JUDGE NELSON: And that’s what you want,
that title?

MR. LUBEL: We’d like -- we would like --
when you say "title," I assume you mean whatever was

redacted from the bullets?
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JUDGE NELSON: Something like the other
titles.

MR. LUBEL: That’s correct.

JUDGE NELSON: "Transaction, Complete
Western Franchise."

MR. LUBEL: And our point is like on the

cons, you see right under the word "redacted, " it says

"May require large capital infusion, prevents us from
going after other business opportunities, short-term
financial impact on UP stock and debt."

JUDGE NELSON: Where are you reading?

MR. LUBEL: I'm down at the bottom of page

JUDGE NELSON: I see, yes.

MR. LUBEL: It just seems to us that,
again, the fact that it’s not a lawyer making these
statements would seem to us to be enough showing at
least to get you to look at it.

Then you take the context of it, which
seems to be discussion of financial and operational
matters and --

JUDGE NELSON: So is it just these bullet
items on page 17?

MR. LUBEL: That is, Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: That'’s all you want?
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MR. LUBEL: That’s all.

JUDGE NELSON: 1Is for me to look at what
is listed in those bullets and make a judgement abut
whether i’s attorney/client or not?

MR. LUBEL: Correct, Your Honor. But it

may be helpful for you to look at then the second

place. I view these separately. I view the portions

of the two documents separately. That’s the first --

JUDGE NELSON: What two document?

MR. LUBEL: There is -- if you go back to
page three --

JUDGE NELSON: Oh.

MR. LUBEL: I'm sorry, page five, there is
a second document.

JUDGE NELSON: This is a chart.

MR. LUBEL: I'm sorry, it’s Bates No. 5,
Your Honor.

JUDGE NELSON: I see,

MR. LUBEL: The one that starts off "SP
Complexity?"

JUDGE NELSON: Yes.

MR. LUBEL: And to get some context, you
have to go to the page before that where it says "SP
objectives."

JUDGE NELSON: So there are some other --
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COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS
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three -- three other bulleted items?

MR. LUBEL: Yes, and the point I’'ve made
on that on the page befcre that is where it says at
the bottom, "Maintain dominance in the west."

That -- that -- as representing another --

JUDGE NELSON: Where does that appear?

MR. LUBEL: That’s the page before, the
very last piece.

JUDGE NELSON: Oh, I see.

MR. LUBEL: That -- now even though in

depositions they say maybe a different word suould

have been used, that causes ouv client some grave
concern that they're talking about, "Well, this merger
will allow us to maintain dominance."

You then get to the next page and they
talk about "complexity," and there are two things --
well, most of the page is redacted, especially where
it says "difficult to estimate value.," and the next
line is redacted.

So we view these separately. We ask you
to look at both of them. The case that I would refer
to, Your Honor --

JUDGE NELSON: Yes, tell me about the
cases. The case --

MR. LUBEL: They say we need to make a
NEAL R. GROSS
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showing. I think that we’ve made the showing. We'’ve

rc¢ "erred Your Honor to the International Telephone and
Telegr=oh case, page 185.

Basically, this was -- this was a case
where there was a suit between telephone companies.

JUDGE NELSON: You’'ve given me a reproduce
from the -- reports with some yellow --

MR. LUBEL: Yes.

JUDGE NELSON: -- and some blue.

MR. LUBEL: And I’'ve marked counsel’s in
the very same place.

JUDGE NELSON: Which am I supposed to
read, the yellow or the blue?

MR. LUBEL: I think you start with the
yellow. That gives you some of the background. It
establishes that it’s their burden to establish the
privilege, that it’s a complex conclusion of law.

And then what they did here, and this is
the secci. column, is the Court said, "Well, we’ll
have to look at this to determine whether or not the
privilege applies."

So we offer this as a precedent of the way
the Court gets through the first stage of this. The
Court looks at it and determines whether or not it

appears to be a privileged communication.

NEAL R. GROSS
COURT REPORTERS AND TRANSCRIBERS
1323 RHODE ISLAND AVENUE, N.W.

(202) 234-4433 WASHINGTON, D.C. 20008 (202) 234-4433




BRI

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1309

And we would ask Your Honor to --

JUDGE NELSON: Where the Court says the --
it refers to the burden of establishing existence of
the privilege --

MR. LUBEL: Yes.

JUDGE NELSON: -- what does that mean?

MR. LUBEL: Well, I think they’ve done
that. And I’'ll concede that they’ve done that for
now, because --

JUDGE NELSON: Fine.

MR. LUBEL: -- because they’ve said --
they’'ve said, "This was statements made by our counsel
that were being repeated by the financial officer."

You know, I guess that makes their prima
facie showing.

JUDGE NELSON: Circumstances from which
one could fairly infer that confidential advice was
being given, lawyer unto client.

MR. LUBEL: Yes.

JUDGE NELSON: The question is, did that
really happen?

MR. LUBEL: That'’s right, Your Honor. And
the rest of the case --

JUDGE NELSON: And what do they say about

the law that you have to show?
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MR. LUBEL: Well, they say that I need to
make a showing, and that I have not made a sufficient
showing. I think they were expecting me to make it in
a brief or something.

I felt that the way we were doing things
here was making it in front of you when we have our
motion day.

And we think we’ve made the showing for
the three reasons I’'ve established, the showing to ét
least have you look at it.

I understand that you may look at it and
say it looks like legal advice to you, and that will
be the end of it for now.

JUDGE NELSON: Well, I’'ll tell you what's
attractive about it, Mr. Roach, is that it’s not the
usual request for in camera inspection that’s going to
involve 50 pages. It looks like 50 bulleted items on
two sheets of pape. .

That makes it a hard case for you because
I'm not going to have to sit there for hours with
it --

MR. ROACH: Okay, well let me --

JUDGE NELSON: -- as I have done in the
past, and would like to avoid in this case.

MR. ROACH: If I may, Your Honor, let me
NEAL R. GROSS
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address it, and I’'ll try to be very focused and crisp
in doing so.

I do think, however, just as a preliminary
comment, that this is --

JUDGE NELSON: Don'’t feel --

MR. ROACH: -- step one.

JUDGE NELSON: -- pressured for time. If
this is important enough for you to resist, even in
camera inspection, I want you to feel free to tell me
whatever you want about the issue.

MR. ROACH: We think it’s very important
to preserve the attorney/client privilege and to
adhere to the law with the respect to in camera
inspection.

We obviously have.no problem with Your
Honor appropriately applying the law if you choose to
conduct in camera inspection and we have no dispute
that it is a discretionary matter.

Btu the law is clear. And it really isn’t
disputed here by my friend, Mr. Lubel.

Let me start with the essential background
of this. He asked about these documents at the
beginning of January.

And I wrote to him on January tenth. 1It’s

a long time ago. 1It’s a month and a half ago.
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And I wrote to him as follows: "The

information redacted on the documents," citing the
nunbers of the documents, "refers to privileged

attorney/client advice."

"In support of this claim of privilege, we
advise as follows: (1) the informatior in both
documents reflects legal advice of Carl W. von
Bernuth, the general counsel of UPC, Union Pacific
Corporation, and Covington and Burling; (2) the first
document by number" --

JUDGE NELSON: You were involved?

MR. ROACH: Our firm was involved.

JUDGE NELSON: You, yourself?

MR. ROACH: I was involved.

JUDGE NELSON: Were you there?

MR. ROACH: I was not at the meeting, no.
This was a briefing for the UP Board.

JUDGE NELSON: Was there a Covington
lawyer there?

MR. ROACH: No, there wasn't.

JUDGE NELSON: Was Bernuth there?

MR. ROACH: Carl von Bernuth was
physically present.

JUDGE NELSON: And you or your firm had

conversations with Mr. Bernuth prior to this time?
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MR. ROACH: Correct. And this was the
first briefing that the Union Pacific Board had
received on the possibility of a transaction. It was
presented by L. White Matthews, III, who is the chief
financial officer of the corporation.

He was the only person who made a
presentation. And it was a comprehensive
presentation. It was limited to financial matters, as
Mr. Lubel suggested.

It covered all the key points, including
the legal context. But to continue the letter I sent
to Mr. Lubel, Your Honor, point two was that "The
first document at issue was part of a presentation to
the UPC Board on February 23, 1995, made by White
Matthews."

JUDGE NELSON: Which one are we talking
about, the chart marked "SP Complexity?"

MR. ROACH: The page that ends with
#five."

JUDGE NELSON: That’s the chart?

MR. ROACH: Yes, that is -- that is
exactly right. Point three was that "The other page
that ends with ‘17’ was included in materials

distributed to Board members for the February 23

meeting."
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1 And the fourth point I made was that "The
2 only parties present during this Board discussion were
3 members of the Board and staff and advisors involved
4 in the matter."
5 And then I said, "Mr. von Bernuth would be
6 prepared to swear to these facts should that be
7 necessary."
8 JUDGE NELSON: That is, swear to the fact
9 that --
10 MR. ROACH: That I just set forth.
11 JUDGE NELSON: -- he was there and they
12 were recitals of things he told.
13 MR. ROACH: And that what was retracted
14 here was attorney/client advice. I then went on and
15 said, "There is no basis" --
16 JUDGE NELSON: He'’s not challenging that.
s He concedes this morning that the framework for the
18 attorney/client privilege is there.
19 MR. ROACH: Well, he’'s --
20 MR. LUBEL: I would just add that there
58 had been no exploration of who they might have
22 repeated these things to after the meeting, but that’s
23 not before us now.
24 In other words, if they discussed these
5 things with analysts or other people that weren’t
NEAL R. GROSS
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1 subject to the privilege, they might have waived scme
—_ 2 privileges.

3 JUDGE NELSON: In other words, Mr. Bernuth
4 was there --

5 MR. ROACH: You know, we just keep getting
6 new arguments here. I answered -- I have answered--
7 JUDGE NELSON: Let’s deal with the old
8 arguments.

9 MR. ROACH: All right.

10 JUDGE NELSON: Bernuth is there,
11 physically present.
12 MR. ROACH: Right.

13 JUDGE NELSON: That’'s agreed. It’s agreed
14 that the presentations made by Mr. -- what’s his name
. 15 ks

16 MR. ROACH: White Matthews.

17 JUDGE NELSON: -- Matthews.

18 MR. ROACH: Ye.s
19 JUDGE NELSON: He'’s the chief financial
20 officer
21 MR. ROACH: Correct.
22 JUDGE NELSON: And it’s agreed that Mr.
23 Matthews -- or you represent --
24 MR. ROACH: He was making the presentation
25 -
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: JUDGE NELSON: Mr. Matthews is repeating,
: 2 to some degree, some stuff -hat Mr. Bernuth told him.

3 MR. ROACH: Absolutely right.

4 JUDGE NELSON: And there’'s no argument

5 about that so far.

6 MR. ROACH: Right.

7 JUDGE NELSON: All right.

8 MR. ROACH: Now, Mr. Lubel has three

9 points that he -- that he -- well, let’s start with
10 the law.
11 I cited in my letter to him on January
12 tenth, to which he has never responded -- he has never
13 asked me for any more facts. He has never suggested
14 new arguments on the waiver. He has never answered my
15 letter.

16 I quoted to him in the letter a Ninth
17 Circuit decision In _re Grand Jury proceedings which
18 says that you have to show, in order to have in camera
19 inspection, "a factual basis sufficient to support a
20 reasonable, good faith belief that in camera
21 inspection may reveal evidence that information in the
22 materials is not privileged."
23 Now he then comes in today, never having
24 responded to my letter or cited any contrary law, with
25 a District Court case from Florida, which is not in
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any way contradictory to that.

Rather, it’s a case where they did do an
in camera inspection, but where they stressed -- the
Court stressed that "Here, the Defendant," and I'm
quoting, "is claiming the attorney/client privilege
for all that occuried at the meetings. And it is
apparent that the mere attendance of an attorney at a
meeting, even when the meeting is held at the
attorney’s instance, does not render everything done
or said at the meeting privileged."

It’s a wholly different situation. There
was a facially implausible claim of privilege being
advanced. And the Court thought it appropriate to
conduct an in camera inspection.

Now what does he offer you as his basis
for finding some good faith reason to think we’re
misrepresenting that this is attorney/client
privilege?

He says first, it wasn’t von Bernuth
talking. The answer to that is, there was only one
brief presentation for management by the senior
officer present, which was Mr. Matthews.

Mr. von Bernuth was there. The

presentation covered legal matters, as well as other

matters.
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He said second, the context --

JUDGE NELSON: What is Mr. Wilson -- is
that his name?

MR. ROACH: White Matthews.

JUDGE NELSON: Matthews? What if he
erronecusly or incorrectly reflects the advise that
Mr. Bernuth gave him, and Mr. Bernuth then corrects
it?

Mk. ROACH: What if -- what if he does?

JUDGE NELSON: How do we know that didn’t
happen?

MR. ROACH: It’s still attorney/client
advice. I don’t understand, Your Honor. I mean, it
would still be priv.leged attorney/client advice if
it’s -- if it’s in the presentation and it’s legal --
it’s legal advice.

JUDGE NELSON: Of course, it wouldn’t make
any difference because all he wants is what’s on that
bullet anyway. Is that bullet a subject matter
heading like -- I'm looking at page 17.

MR. ROACH: No, they’re comments about
legal aspects of this matter. They’re comments --

JUDGE NELSON: It’s not like the other
bullets?

MR. ROACH: Well, the other --
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1 JUDGE NELSON: The other bullets are
! - 2 simply topics.
5 3 MR. ROACH: Yes, they’'re 1listing --
5 4 they’re listing very, very briefly pros and cons of
! 5 the transaction. And some of those pros and cons are
6 legal in nature. Those are the ones we redacted.
7 JUDGE NELSON: So the redactions don’t
| 8 look like the other bullets?
9 MR. ROACH: They look 1like the other
10 bullets. They are bullet points. They are -- they
33 just happen to be legal topics.
12 JUDGE NELSON: All right. Your point is
13 that he hasn’t shown a reason to believe that you'’re
14 not properly claiming the attorney/client privilege?
15 MR. RCACH: Right. And in his other two
16 reasons, he says that the context is financial. Well,
17 it’s not. You have a financial table followed by a
18 general list of pros and cons, which cover financial
19 and legal matters.
20 And then he says well, Mr. von Bernuth may
b i 2 wear multiple hats because Mr. Harvey does for
22 Southern Pacific. Well, that’s bizarre. Mr. von
23 Bernuth does not have a financial title. He is solely
24 a lawyer for Union Pacific Corporation.
25 And they have had weeks in which they
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